



Wednesday 27th January 2021

MEETING EDUCATION AND CHILDREN'S SERVICES

SCRUTINY PANEL

(Councillors Basra (Chair), Kelly (Vice-Chair),

A Cheema, Ajaib, Begum, Qaseem, A Sandhu, Sarfraz,

Vacancy)

Education Voting Co-opted Members

Vacancy

Education Non-Voting Co-opted Members

Paul Kassapian – Secondary School Representative

Fifi El Sayed – Slough Youth Parliament

DATE AND TIME: THURSDAY, 4TH FEBRUARY, 2021 AT 6.30 PM

VENUE: VIRTUAL MEETING

DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

OFFICER:

NADIA WILLIAMS

(for all enquiries) 07749 709 961

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are requested to attend the above Meeting at the time and date indicated to deal with the business set out in the following agenda.

JOSIE WRAGG

lu w-cr,

Chief Executive

AGENDA

PART 1 PART I

AGENDA REPORT TITLE PAGE WARD

<u>ITEM</u>

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE



AGENDA REPORT TITLE PAGE WARD CONSTITUTIONAL MATTERS 1. Declarations of Interest All Members who believe they have a Disclosable

All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary or other Interest in any matter to be considered at the meeting must declare that interest and, having regard to the circumstances described in Section 4 paragraph 4.6 of the Councillors' Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter is discussed.

2. Minutes of the Meeting held on held on 3 1 - 10

December 2020

SCRUTINY ISSUES

3. Member Questions

(An opportunity for Panel Members to ask questions of the relevant Director/ Assistant Director, relating to pertinent, topical issues affecting their Directorate – maximum of 10 minutes allocated).

4.	Briefing on the scope - Elective Home Education	11 - 20	All
5.	Slough Children's Services Trust's Performance	To follow	All
6.	The Draft Threshold Document	To follow	All

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

7.	Forward Work Programme	21 - 26	-
8.	Attendance Record	27 - 28	-

Date of Next Meeting 16 March 2021

Press and Public

This meeting will be held remotely in accordance with the Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020. Part I of this meeting will be live streamed as required by the regulations. The press and public can access the meeting from the following link (by selecting the meeting you wish to view):

http://democracy.slough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?Cld=133&Year=0

Please note that the meeting may be recorded. By participating in the meeting by audio and/or video you are giving consent to being recorded and acknowledge that the recording will be in the public domain. The press and public will not be able to view any matters considered during Part II of the agenda.



Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Panel – Meeting held on Thursday, 3rd December, 2020.

Present:- Councillors Basra (Chair), Kelly (Vice-Chair), A Cheema, Ajaib, Begum, Qaseem and Sarfraz

Also present under Rule 30:- Councillor Strutton

PART 1

20. Declarations of Interest

Councillor Kelly declared that he worked at Lynch Hill School, Primary Academy. There were no conflicts with any matters on the agenda and he therefore remained and participated in the meeting.

Councillor Basra declared that she worked at Khalsa Primary School. There were no conflicts with any matters on the agenda and she therefore remained and participated in the meeting.

21. Minutes of the Meeting held on 21 October 2020

Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 October be approved as a correct record.

22. Member Questions

The responses to questions in relation to Minute 14 of the meeting held on 21 October 2020 (Community Learning and Skills) as set out below had been received:

- Further breakdown of the age groups of the 3,000 enrolled learners.
- Details of how grant funding of the service was split between Slough Borough Council (SBC) and Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM).
- That further clarification as set out above be provided for Councillor Strutton and the Panel.

Further information had been provided to Panel members and Councillor Strutton by email for information.

Resolved - That the written responses be noted.

23. Creative Academy

The Associate Director Place Regulation introduced the 2019/20 Annual Report on the Creative Academy, which outlined the success of the academy and its positive contribution to Slough community.

Members were informed that Creative Academy provided a dance programme at degree level and Slough Borough Council was the only local authority in the country that offered vocational professional dance programme from level 3 through to level 7 (masters programmes).

The Panel was shown a short video of dance performances that students at the academy had performed, including those at competitions and at talent shows. Students also regularly performed throughout the borough.

The Creative Academy Manager highlighted that academy had a unique partnership between Slough Borough Council and the University of West London. Creative Academy also worked closely with the Royal Ballet School, National Dance Company, the BBC, Chanel 4, all part of building relationship for students on the course.

From 2020 the Academy had been inspected as part of the University Quality Assurance Agency (similar to Ofsted). Despite the Covid-19 pandemic, 81% of students who graduated in 2020 had secured employment by September 2020. In addition, 8 had returned to join the Masters programme at the start of September 2020.

Members were informed that class sizes had been reduced from 15 to bubbles of between 6 and 10 students during lockdown with buildings split into different zones. Degree students worked well with local schools and Slough Sports Network. The Academy also provided Creative Saturday programmes offering young people aged 3 to 21 with free dance classes and 160 had participated over the last three terms.

The Chair invited comments and questions from Members.

During the course of the discussions, the following points were raised:

Members commended the video and welcomed that Slough would increasingly be renowned for the full- time nationally recognised vocational dance training degree programmes that were being successfully offered at Creative Academy. A member asked what percentage of the 2019 graduates who had gained employment were from Slough. It was noted that 20% (4) of the graduates had lived in and had attended schools in Slough but most had moved into Slough from surrounding boroughs. In respect of those who remained in Slough, it was noted that between 20%-40% had worked on cruise ships and at schools in Slough, teaching dance. Two of the graduates had also set up their own business in the borough. With regard to cost implications for Slough, it was confirmed that the cost was neutral to the borough as students were funded in the same way as courses offered at universities.

In response to a question as to whether the partnership with the University of West London was long term. Members were informed that a five year rolling contract was in place.

Members asked about the various levels of qualifications. It was explained that the Academy started to offer a Foundation Year in 2020 at Level 3. Levels 4, 5 and 6 were equivalent to Years 1, 2, and 3 of a BA (Bachelor of Arts) degree with a Masters at Level 7. In response to the question as to how the students' fees of £800k forecasted for 2020/21 would be invested. It was explained that some would be invested in current on-going work with the Curve, students engaging with schools (13 schools visited each year) with the majority of the money being spent on teaching.

The Chair then invited Councillor (Cllr) Strutton to address the Panel under Rule 30.

Cllr Strutton applauded the success of Creative Academy and asked about the number of businesses former students had set up in Slough. It was explained that 5 businesses had been set up in the last 10 years but the majority of students had gone into free lance employment. In relation to a query raised about courses on musical theatre, it was explained that courses in this area were currently not being offered as the Academy wished to maintain its specialism in dance. Critically, there was also little employment opportunities in musical theatre but three former graduates had been successful in gaining employment in a musical in the West End. With regard to a question about the working relationship with the Royal Ballet, the Creative Academy Manager confirmed that there was a good on-going relationship with the Royal Ballet which extended from before Creative Academy had started; the director had taught at Langley College in Slough.

A Member asked whether Creative Academy had any links with apprenticeships. It was explained that the scheme was being piloted this year and would be offering dance teaching to two students subject to the criteria being met. There had been early discussion with the university about funding the scheme continuously.

Resolved - the Creative Academy report be noted.

24. Slough Academy

The Slough Academy manager introduced a report which provided an overview of the Academy and the apprenticeship opportunities it offered to young people and Slough residents.

Members were informed that two apprenticeship schemes for aged 16-18 (Business and Administration) and 18-25 (Youth Work apprenticeships) had been in place from the end of 2018 and particular focus had been placed in supporting young people to apply and secure apprenticeship opportunities. Approximately 2 to 3 Care Leavers (CL) had been in the annual cohort of 20 young people in the past and despite pre-apprentice and ongoing support provided, the majority of CLs on the scheme had failed to successfully complete the apprenticeships.

The Government had introduced a new apprenticeship levy designed to increase the number of apprenticeships on offer. The Council subsequently changed its approach to the provision of apprenticeships in the summer of 2018 in order to comply with the changes. The change had enabled the scheme to be broadened to a wider age group from 17 to 58 years. Slough Academy now offered over 25 apprenticeship programmes, which also enabled employees to be developed internally. It was explained that the roll out was being delivered over three phases with apprenticeships being the first, with 10 already completed successfully. Slough Academy worked with stakeholders to ascertain where career paths could be created and to ensure a business case for each apprenticeship (which must go through approval process with the Slough Academy Board).

Slough Academy had offered 2% of staff an apprenticeship compared to Government target of 2.3%, and 75% of apprentices were Slough residents. There were currently no children looked after (CLA) or CL apprentices due to low demand. Work was currently in progress with the Trust to ascertain the reasons for the lack of demand.

Recruitment job packs promoting Slough Borough Council (SBC) as an employer of choice had been created and all applications would be reviewed and scored. Candidates that met the requirement would be shortlisted for interviews, conducted by a panel consisting of stakeholders and staff from Slough Academy to ensure a fair process.

Various methods including apprenticeship awareness sessions had been delivered to head teachers at schools to support young people and to ensure they were well placed to secure apprenticeships with the Council. The Slough Academy website had also been created to provide support materials for different apprentice age groups. Further work was also being undertaken to find out what could be done differently. There were also proposals to provided baseline functional courses to enable young people to prepare and apply for apprenticeships.

It was highlighted that 75% of people on apprenticeships had indicated that they would be more likely to remain with SBC. Apprenticeships had also resulted in huge savings due to costs being redeemed against the Government levy and anticipated that succession planning would contribute to replace contractual workers.

A video presentation of the Slough Academy's First Birthday would be emailed to Panel members, as it could not be presented due to a technical hitch.

During the course of the discussion, the following points were raised:

• A query was raised as to why the apprenticeships target at 2% was lower than the Government target of 2.3%. It was explained that all local authorities were experiencing the same issue. The levy funded

- apprenticeship training costs and increased the range of apprenticeships that could be offered but did not pay for salaries.
- Members asked where the 75% of residents on apprenticeships were from. It was explained that they lived in the in the borough but none were CLAs. Applications from two CLAs had been received but were unsuccessful. One had failed the DBS check and the other had not met the minimum entry requirements. It was stressed that this was the reason why Slough Academy was keen to work with the Trust and the Council to encourage young people and to provide support in enabling them to complete the functional skills. Free courses would be provided, which when completed, would enable the young people to apply for apprenticeships. The Associate Director Place Regulation explained that a full report would be presented at the next Corporate Parenting Panel meeting (CPP) regarding this issue. Creating and improving opportunities for young people was being incorporated as part of the inclusive growth strategy.
- The Slough Academy manager agreed to email details to Panel members of the breakdown of the 27 apprenticeships in flight and the 19 pending as requested.
- In response to a question about the levels of apprenticeship that were currently being undertaken, it was explained that there were currently levels 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6. Vacancies would first be reviewed to see whether they could be offered on an apprenticeship basis before they were advertised. It was noted that although it did not include vacancies relating to the Trust, all Council vacancies would be advertised to the Trust. Members were informed that apprenticeship levy was linked to payroll and the Associate Director Place Regulation would discuss this issue further with the Interim Executive Director for Children/SCST Chief Executive (Both were on the Slough Academy Board).
- Members asked about the level of clawback that could be made. It was
 explained that the amount could vary between £3k and £5k which
 could be used to pay for apprenticeships in schools. It was requested
 for an approved list of providers to be sent to Panel members.
- Members asked about the level of pre-assessment of applicants. It was
 explained that learners were required to have a higher functional skills
 or academic level to show that they would be able to cope with the
 programme. Applicants would be required to take a test for some
 programmes, whilst others would be considered by a Panel. There
 were pre-apprenticeship programmes in place to support young
 people. The Slough Academy manager would provide the Panel with
 the list of qualifications required.

The Chair then invited Cllr Strutton to address the Panel under Rule 30.

Cllr Strutton asked why there was such a big gap in the apprentice gender split of 69 female to 31 male. It was explained that SBC generally had a higher rate of female employees and that the aim of the selection process was to get the best candidate for the job, which happened to be female. In addition, it also depended on the applications received for a post.

Cllr Strutton raised the issue of ring fenced apprenticeship for CLA, which the Corporate Parenting Panel believed was in operation but was no longer the case since the Slough Academy came into being. He suggested that CLAs should be targeted at an earlier stage to support them in making successful applications. The Associate Director Place Regulation explained that there had never been a quota or ring fenced apprenticeship programmes for CLAs but rather; the Council had a commitment to support young people and CLAs. The report to the Corporate Parenting Panel would also be looking at ways of building aspirations for young people and CLAs in order to ensure that they attained better qualifications.

Resolved:

- i) That the Slough Academy report be noted.
- ii) That the Slough Academy manager email the following details to Panel members:
 - a) Breakdown of the 27 apprenticeships that were in flight and the 19 pending
 - b) An approved list of apprenticeship providers.
 - A list of required qualifications for the various apprenticeship programmes

25. Youth Offer

The Associate Director Children and Family introduced a report that provided an overview of the work that had been conducted to refresh the Youth Offer, including the proposed development of a new youth centre.

A detailed presentation was given that outlined the work that had been undertaken and the work planned for the coming months to ensure delivery of the project. The Youth Offer Steering Group, chaired by the Chief Executive was set up at the early stage of the proposed new youth centre. The proposal was being widely promoted to increase engagement and support, and had already been presented to the Children and Young People's Partnership Board, shared with the Wellbeing board, Lead Members and including this Panel.

The Panel was informed that in the refresh of the existing youth offer, there had been discussions with the Place team about the progress on the design and build of the new youth centre. Further understanding had been sought from the 2040 Vision engagement project and from the Youth Service and Early Help. Young people had also been consulted about the current youth

centre. The next step would be the scoping of the work within the youth centre work stream of the project.

Members were informed that the new youth centre would accelerate the refreshed Youth Offer and be a safe place for young people to visit, as well as being accessible for all those living in all parts of the borough. The refreshed Youth Offer would continue to enhance the lives of young people for the next five years and would be an integral part of the Councils localities agenda which included local youth provision.

As part of the forthcoming milestones, a report would be presented at the Cabinet meeting in February 2021 for approval. Ongoing running costs had been confirmed and aligned with Council's key priorities, and capital to build a new centre had been ring fenced.

During the course of the discussion, the following points were raised:

- Members welcome proposal of the new youth centre but were concerned that the proposal for a hub for young people aged 10-21 may be too wide and age range to ensure that the appropriate offer was established. It was explained that the proposed new youth centre would not only be connected with the Youth Offer; it would also be linked to localities. Wider usage of the building would ensure efficient use through out the day. It was also envisaged that the building would be an asset that could be used seven days a week, manged by the Council and the voluntary sector. Provisions would be age appropriate and would have different offers including arts and cultural programmes. With regard to naming the building, work would be undertaken with young people to establish this.
- Members highlighted that safeguarding was paramount and particular attention would be needed with due consideration given in respect of young people with special needs and those experiencing mental health issues.

The Chair then invited Cllr Strutton to address the Panel under Rule 30.

Cllr Strutton noted that £5m had been allocated towards the development of the youth centre and asked whether any site had been earmarked and how it was being funded. It was explained that capital funding had been allocated and ring fenced. The building would be located in the town centre but the precise site was not yet known, as the feasibility of sites were currently being explored, taking into account security issues and safe guarding to ensure the safety of young people and staff. The Associate Director Place Regulations added that exploration of the prospect of securing a partner that would sponsor a youth facility by way of securing revenue costs was also on-going.

Cllr Strutton asked whether officers were confident that £5m would be sufficient, as he believed that the building project was underfunded. It was

confirmed that funding provision would be adequate based on similar building projects that had taken place around the country in relation to regeneration of the high street and provision of S106 planning obligation agreements.

A Member asked what mechanism had been put in place during the consultation for young people to make their preference for the building known. It was explained that currently, discussions were on-going with young people but there would be a consultation on the Youth Offer and the proposed new youth centre building. In response to a question as to consulting all schools, it was explained that the centre would be for young people and therefore consultation would be extended from Year 6 and school leavers.

Resolved – That the Youth Offer report be noted.

26. Ofsted Report on Social Care

The Interim Executive Director for Children /SCST Chief Executive provided an update of the Ofsted findings following the focused visit to Slough Children's Services in October 2020.

During the course of the discussion, the following points were raised:

A member highlighted a long standing problem of failure in sending closing letters to schools and the issue of emails being sent via egress to the wrong schools. It was also suggested that there had been failure in referring Early Help referrals to the appropriate levels. In relation to Covid-19, there had been delays in schools getting PPE and teachers had been led to believe that visits by social workers had been replaced by telephone calls, thus compounding the feeling that social workers were off loading offers to Early Help. It was explained that schools were responsible for their areas of practice but the comments were noted. Issues relating to emails being sent to the wrong schools should be immediately reported directly to the Interim Executive Director for Children /SCST Chief Executive, so that they could be addressed speedily at the time of occurrence. The Associate Director Children and Family advised with regard to referrals by social workers to Earl Help, advised that the issue may have arisen due to social worker being off but confirmed that the generally procedure was for there to be a discussion with the social worker responsible for the family before being referred to Early Help. In the absence of this discussion, the case would usually be referred back to the social worker. It could not be confirmed that circulation of PPE was slow but Members were reassured that visits were continuing to be made to children. It was highlighted that social workers in other parts of the country had not continued to make visits, whereas those in Slough had. In response to a question as to whether telephone calls were classed as a visit, it was explained that this was not the case. During Covid, risk assessments were made and where required, social workers made visits.

- A Member asked what actions were being taken to address the issue of high staff turnover. The Interim Executive Director for Children /SCST Chief acknowledged that this was an issue of top priority. It was stressed that caseloads were very high and pressurised and therefore difficult to keep and recruit new staff. Three additional staff team members had been recruited and a bid had been submitted to the DfE (Department for Education) to set up a hub to develop career development and apprenticeships in order to increase recruitment and retention. It was stressed that the proposal would only be possible if the bid was successful, as no other additional funding was available. A decision on the bid was expected in approximately two weeks time. Members were informed that some agency staff had become permanent.
- A Member asked about the timescale of the restructure process in respect of child exploitation and the public law outline (PLO) process. It was confirmed that the restructure had been completed and stressed that the issue was not about restructure but rather the level of casework and the quality of the work relating to assessments and plans.

The Chair then invited Cllr Strutton to address the Panel under rule 30.

Cllr Strutton highlighted that the case loads were high and asked whether there were any figures in relation to the number of current case loads. The Interim Executive Director for Children /SCST Chief Executive agreed to email data as they were not available to hand but that the case load figures ranged from 18 at Children's Services and higher in Child Protection, which were sometimes in the range of 30 and over.

Cllr Strutton expressed concern about high level of case loads in the different areas and the need for agency staff to become permanent. It was explained that these issues/concerns had been acknowledged but stressed that Slough was not alone in this regard but rather a national problem.

Resolved:

- i) That the Ofsted Report on Social Care be noted.
- ii) The Interim Executive Director for Children /SCST Chief Executive to provide figures on the current social workers' case loads for circulation to the Panel and Cllr Strutton.

27. Forward Work Programme 2020-21

The Policy Insight Analyst presented the Forward Work Programme and updated Members on relevant items.

The Panel was informed that Members had been agreed to focus on the following themes for 2020-21:

- i) Apprenticeship Skills
- ii) The Impact of Covid-19.

It was reported however, that seven additional items had since been raised as a result of further discussions that had taken place. An informal meeting would therefore be arranged for Members to discuss and agree to include the items on the agenda for this period. A list of the items would sent by email to Members for information.

Members were invited to attend a meeting being arranged in January 2021 at which the terms of reference for a proposed Employment and Skills Task and Finish group would be drafted.

Resolved:

- a) That the Policy Insight Analyst be requested to arrange an informal meeting to discuss additional items for inclusion in the 2020-21 Forward Work Programme.
- b) That the proposed seven additional items be emailed to Members for information.
- c) That members be invited to the proposed Employment and Skills Task and Finish group meeting to be held in January 202.

28. Attendance Record

Resolved – That the details of the Attendance Record be noted.

29. Date of Next Meeting 4 February 2021

Resolved- That the date of the next meeting was confirmed as 4 February 2021.

Chair

(Note: The Meeting opened at 6.30 pm and closed at 9.04 pm)

SLOUGH BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO: Education and Children Services Scrutiny Panel

DATE: 4 February 2021

CONTACT OFFICER: Michael Jarrett, Associate Director - Children and Families

(For all Enquiries) Tel 01753 476556

WARD(S): All

PART I

FOR INFORMATION

BRIEFING ON THE SCOPE - ELECTIVE HOME EDUCATION

1. Purpose of Report

The purpose of the report is to provide the Committee with an overview of the Elective Home Education provision in the context of the current national trends during the pandemic.

2. Recommendation(s)/Proposed Action

The Committee is requested to note the report.

3. The Slough Joint Wellbeing Strategy, the JSNA and the Five Year Plan

3a. Slough Joint Wellbeing Strategy Priorities

The services described in this report and the improvements being made to them support the following priorities:

Priorities:

- 1. Protecting vulnerable children
- 3. Improving mental health and wellbeing.

3b. Five Year Plan Outcomes

The services described in this report and the improvements being made to them support the following outcome:

Slough children will grow up to be happy, healthy and successful.

4. Other Implications

(a) Financial

There are no financial implications of proposed action.

(b) Risk Management

Recommendati on from section 2 above	Risks/Threats/ Opportunities	Current Controls	Using the Risk Management Matrix Score the risk	Future Controls
Covid-19 lockdown (Mar 2020 and Jan 2021)	Child's Access to education	Home visits; engagement with parents to assess parental educational capacity.		1)Home visits changed to virtual online meetings and assessments 2) Vulnerable children: Letters sent by the LA to engage parents and provide contact details for EHE teachers. Follow-up with calls and home visits where necessary.

Please note: Definition of Vulnerable Child–Impaired physically, intellectually, emotionally, socially and behaviourally.

- Social Workers and Family Support Workers continue supporting and signposting families to relevant support services.
- Joined up services approach All children with EHCPs still receive joint visits with Home Education Teachers and allocated SEND Officers so children's needs continue to be assessed and reviewed.
- Human Rights Act and Other Legal Implications

There are no Human Rights Acts implications.

5. Supporting Information

- 5.1 Definition & Legislation:
- 5.2 DfE definition: Elective home education is a term used to describe a choice by parents to provide education for their children at home or at home and in some other way which they choose instead of sending them to school full-time.
- 5.3 In England, education is compulsory, but attending school is not. Section 7 of the Education Act 1996 states that:

- 5.4 "The parent of every child of compulsory school age shall cause him to receive efficient full-time education suitable
 - to his age, ability and aptitude, and
 - to any special educational needs he may have, either by regular attendance at school or otherwise."
- 5.5 Some parents choose to do this by educating their children at home. An "efficient" and "suitable" education is not defined in the Education Act 1996 but "efficient" has been broadly described in case law as an education that "achieves that which it sets out to achieve", and a "suitable" education as one that "primarily equips a child for life within the community of which he is a member, rather than the way of life in the country as a whole, as long as it does not foreclose the child's options in later years to adopt some other form of life if he wishes to do so".
- 5.6 Article 2 of Protocol 1 of the European Convention on Human Rights states that:
- 5.7 "No person shall be denied the right to education. In the exercise of any functions which it assumes in relation to education and to teaching, the State shall respect the right of parents to ensure such education and teaching in conformity with their own religious and philosophical convictions.
- 5.8 Parents choosing to Electively Home Educate their child/ren should be purely a voluntary decision and not as a result of pressure from the school. Schools should not make any attempt to encourage EHE nor should any pupil be removed from the school roll on the assumption that a child is being educated at home. Off rolling in any circumstances must not happen without the approval of the Attendance Service.

The DfE has published departmental guidance for Local Authorities/Schools and for Parents in relation to EHE. The Local Authority must discharge its responsibilities which they have under Sections 436A and 437 of The Education Act 1996.

5.9 It is also worth noting that parents are not legally obliged to confirm their intentions to EHE, however, the LA maintains contact as per Government Guidance.

References related to above guidance

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/7

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/schedule/1/part/II/chapter/2

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/elective-home-education

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/section/436A

5. 10 The National Context

- In the period, October 2019 to October 2020 EHE cases have risen by 38% to an estimated total of 75,668.
- Across the South East the number was 11,521 for the same period.
- EHE children are known as "Hidden Children" as parents are not required by law to report they are home educating, it is NOT a statutory requirement, therefore

- the numbers of children currently being home educated is expected be much higher with the true numbers being unconfirmed.
- LA's have a duty to establish whether a suitable education is being provided but do not have a role in the assurance of such provision.
- Safeguarding concerns children's welfare cannot be monitored if they are not in a formal educational setting (LA's concerned as they cannot know if the child is safe from harm or exploitation other than through routine monitoring visits).
- Health concerns, specifically, Covid-19 is the primary reason for a rapid rise in EHE cases nationally since March 2020.
- ADCS awaits the outcome of the Department for Education's Children not in school consultation which proposed duties on LAs to maintain a register of children who are electively home educated and to provide support to parents who educate their children at home.

5.11 Legislation to support a child back to school if EHE is unsuitable:

5.12 Section 437 (1) A formal notice of the Education Act 1996 could be issued regarding unsuitable education provision. In due course this will lead to a school attendance order and eventually prosecution leading to a fine and/or parenting order.

5.13 Council arrangements

- 5.14 The Council's Attendance Service is responsible for supporting schools and parents if parents choose to Electively Home Educate.
- 5.15 Home Education Teachers commissioned by the LA assess the suitability of education in place by conducting home visits; door steps and alternative public places such as libraries and since the pandemic have provided virtual visits.
- 5.16 Local authorities and schools should work together to ensure that every child has access to their legal right to a full-time, efficient and suitable education. This applies to children who are receipt of home education. Once a parent formally notifies the school that they wish to withdraw their child from the school roll for the purpose of EHE, it is expected that schools undertake the following prior to a referral to the LA Attendance Service;
 - I. Ensure that the parents' decision to EHE their child is purely a voluntary decision.
 - II. Obtain written notification from the parent of their intention to EHE their child.
 - **III.** Discuss the reason the parent has chosen to EHE their child.
 - **IV.** Discuss and address any concerns that the parent has with the school / dissatisfaction with the system if this is being used as a reason for withdrawing from the school roll.
 - **V.** Ensure that the parent is clear on what their responsibility is when they opt for EHE.

- **VI.** The following should be shared with the parent; Ensure that the parent understands that, in accordance with Section 7 of The Education Act 1996, they have the responsibility to ensure that their child receives "efficient, full time education suitable to:
 - **a.** His/her age, ability and aptitude and to any special educational needs he/she may have either by regular attendance at school or otherwise
 - **b.** Parents must be prepared to assume full financial responsibility, including bearing the cost of any public examinations
 - **c.** Parents have the right to apply for a school place at any time should they subsequently decide that EHE is not as successful as they wish it to be, however in accordance with SBC's Fair Access Protocol, children removed from the school roll for the purpose of EHE that wish to return to the school system will be expected to return to the school that they left.
- 5.17 Parents should be made aware of this when considering EHE as a temporary measure for example; in respect of COVID or whilst they are awaiting a school place of preference. Parents are expected to assume full responsibility for their child's education with immediate effect.
- 5.18 In such instances parents should be advised to contact the Admissions Service or complete a new Admissions Application online (available from the SBC website).

5.19 **Delivery of EHE**

- 5.20 The delivery of EHE is part contracted to The Specialist Education Trust (Littledown School) who provide a home education monitoring service (2 experienced qualified teachers) for all pupils who are educated at home.
- 5.21 The home education advisory teachers conduct home visits to assess the suitability of education in place. This extends to annual monitoring and details are shared with the Attendance Service to ensure tracking and recording of cases.
- 5.23 Once the Local Authority receives notification of EHE, they [LA]:
 - Check across all databases in relation to the child's status i.e. known to social care/early help (where this is the case the relevant case worker will be notified)
 - Make contact with the parent to confirm their intentions to EHE and establish their reasons for doing so
 - Notify the parents of their legal responsibilities
 - Once it has been ascertained that the child will be purposely home educated the Attendance Service will;
 - Notify the Home Education Advisory Teachers (HEAT) at Littledown School of the case who will then arrange an initial visit with parents in approx. 6

weeks time and thereafter annually to establish the child is being suitably educated at home.

- A report written by the teachers which outlines the education in place is shared with the Attendance Service. The education is monitored annually thereafter.
- The reports are assessed and RAG rated. Cases of concern rated as inadequate are prioritised for further action, whereby parents are contacted for further advice, and guidance. Where there are safeguarding issues the team will refer any concerns to the Front Door within the Slough Children's Service Trust.
- If there is non engagement from parents where it appears that a suitable education is not being provided despite additional support or attempts to engage, further action may be taken as per The Education Act 1996. This action may include additional visits, support and / or enforcement against the parent (School Attendance Order).
- For cases where there are no concerns, the LA will inform the school once
 the investigation has been completed and the school can remove the child
 from roll. For more complex cases the LA will request the school keep the
 child on roll for approximately 4-6 weeks whilst the school/LA/parent
 discussions achieve an appropriate outcome.

5.24 Monitoring and tracking Pupils for EHE

5.25 The Attendance Service (Elective Home Education Officer) monitors, tracks and records each of the EHE cases and provides relevant data to inform the local status.

5.26 Multi-agency working

- EHE / CME (children missing education) Trust Panel Meetings meet monthly to provide a view of the support that is available from different agencies for the child.
- This facilitates discussions on how processes including referrals to Social Care can be focused on at least conducting a Children and Family Assessment.
- Social Workers and Family Support Workers continue supporting and signposting families to relevant support services.
- Joined-up services approach All children with EHCPs still receive joint visits with Home Education Teachers and allocated SEND Officers so children's needs continue to be assessed and reviewed.

5.27 The local position

5.28 The below table illustrates the increases in children being home educated over the past 4 years in line with national trends. In January 2021 the service had seen a rise of 59% from last years total figures:

Academic year	Total EHE cases	% growth from previous yr.
2020/21 (as of 5.1.2021)	289	59%
2019/20	184	12%
2018/19	165	20%
2017/18	138	11%

Source: Covid DfE portal report (5.1.2021)

- As of 5.1.2021 locally there was a rise of 59% of EHE cases as compared to EHE cases from 2019/2020 (184 Vs 289).
- Nationally, there are 6-10% of EHE children who have an EHCP in place, compared with 3% in Slough.
- Nationally there are 6% of EHE cases previously and currently known to Social care, compared with 29% of cases in Slough.
- Nationally there are 15.8% of children previously and currently known to wider Services (e.g., Early Help), compared with 17% across Slough.
- Currently in Slough 2.5% (7 children) of the total EHE cases are not engaging with Attendance Service which was recognised by Ofsted in the October Focussed Visit as being a low number.
- There are currently 2 children in Slough on flexi-schooling (part-time timetable).

5.29 Reasons for EHE:

5.30 The 3 main themes provided include:

- 93 Family Reasons in Slough (this includes reasons related to Covid-19, e.g. fear
 of sending child to school, vulnerable family member in particular where families
 live in multi-generation households)
- 59 Reasons not established
- 27 Parental choice
- Covid 19 has had a significant impact on EHE numbers which were already on the increase.
- Slough Context-Family reasons (subsumed Covid 19 Reasons e.g. ill vulnerable family members).
- EHE traditionally used by parents waiting for a preferred school (as of Sept 2020 current Admissions/Fair Access practices prevent this, either on school roll or EHE EHE is not allowed to be used as a waiting ground for preferred choice of school to be made available).
- Use of Fair Access Panel to provide school place once moving back to formal education in school.
- A good number of EHE children are removed from school due to disputes manifested in behavioural difficulties.
- Increased awareness that EHE has been used for masking safeguarding issues by parents.
- EHE has also been known to be used as a stepping stone if bullying/school based issues such as behavioural concerns, following exclusions, mental health if the school does not support the child and the parent feels the child is unsafe.

 Covid related practices: virtual zoom meetings, door step visits for most vulnerable children, letters to engage parents who are not responsive to calls, follow up with home visits, closer work with other agencies to ensure welfare and safeguarding arrangements are in place.

5.31 Challenges:

- Local Authority execution of maintaining an oversight of the provision of children's suitable education in safe environments is compromised by the lack of a strong legal framework.
- Nationally there are capacity pressures as a result of the rapid increases in EHE caseloads.
- Children not able to attend tutoring sessions or take exams.
- No teacher assessments can be conducted as some schools might be illegal.
- Correspondence or online resources can be expensive.
- Children leave EHE without qualifications.
- Destinations not tracked.
- Vulnerable children with social, emotional and mental health difficulties fail to reintegrate back into school.
- No access to formalised work experience.
- Children might be at risk of criminal exploitation or other associated activities.

5.32 Areas for Development (service aspirations)

- Further integrate EHE work across services such as Fair Access, Admissions,
 CME and embed across the early help offer.
- Admissions and Fair Access Protocols to be further developed with Attendance / EHE work.
- EHE numbers have increased compared to last year and the majority are registered with the home education service with the exception 2.5% (7 children) who do not engage and there is not a formal mechanism legally for reviewing the standard of education and ensuring safeguarding concerns are addressed.
- Legal framework and practice for non engaging parents or where EHE is rated as inadequate to be further developed in Slough.
- Government to formalise as statutory requirement to register EHE with LA and framework developed to safeguard children within EHE.
- Develop regional networking to align practices across the south east.
- Yr. 11 EHE cases arrangement of examination centres with Further Education Centres and Haybrook College for children and young people.
- Flexi Schooling-an option but contentious.

6. Comments of Other Committees

None

7. Conclusion

- Attendance Service has developed good processes and mechanisms in monitoring and assessing EHE – confirmed during the Ofsted Focussed Visit, October 2020.
- Further local development work needs to embed processes with other services to ensure deeper interagency collaboration.
- Legal processes require further development to support children not receiving a suitable education at home (national and local priority).
- Collaborative work with other regional authorities to develop best share practices

8. Background Papers

The Association of Directors of Children's Services Ltd: ADCS EHE report 2020

Sept 2020 Slough School Referrals to the LA –Information Document V5 (Internal Document: Attendance Service)



SLOUGH BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO: Education & Children's Services Scrutiny Panel

DATE: 4th February 2021

CONTACT OFFICER: Tiran Khehra, Policy Insight Analyst

(For all Enquiries) (01753) 875560

WARDS: All

PART I FOR COMMENT & CONSIDERATION

EDUCATION & CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL 2020-21 WORK PROGRAMME

- 1. Purpose of Report
- 1.1 For the Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Panel (ECS Scrutiny Panel) to discuss its current work programme.
- 2. Recommendations/Proposed Action
- 2.1 That the Panel review the current work programme for the 2020-21 municipal year, and propose future topics for scrutiny as appropriate.
- 3. The Slough Joint Wellbeing Strategy, the JSNA and the Five Year Plan
- 3.1 The Council's decision-making and the effective scrutiny of it underpins the delivery of all the Joint Slough Wellbeing Strategy priorities. The ECS Scrutiny Panel, along with the Overview & Scrutiny Committee and other Scrutiny Panels combine to meet the local authority's statutory requirement to provide public transparency and accountability, ensuring the best outcomes for the residents of Slough.
- 3.2 The work of the ECS Scrutiny Panel also reflects the priorities of the Five Year Plan, in particular the following:
 - Slough children will grow up to be happy, healthy and successful

4. **Supporting Information**

- 4.1 The current work programme is based on the discussions of the ECS Scrutiny Panel at previous meetings, looking at requests for consideration of issues from officers and issues that have been brought to the attention of Members outside of the Panel's meetings.
- 4.2 The work programme is a flexible document which will be continually open to review throughout the municipal year.

5. **Conclusion**

5.1 This report is intended to provide the ECS Scrutiny Panel with the opportunity to review its upcoming work programme and make any amendments it feels are required.

6. **Appendices Attached**

A - Work Programme for 2020 - 21 Municipal Year

7. Background Papers

None.

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Panel Work Programme 2020/21

THEMES FOR 2020/21 DEVELOPMENT:				
 Theme 1- Training & Skills Development Theme 2- COVID-19 Impact on Education 				
Potential Task and Finish Group / Site Visits:				
 Windsor Forest Group/ Colleges on their offer Solutions for Health (0-19 Service) 	OsbourneApprenticeships			
Meetin	g Date:			
21 st October 2020 Theme 1				
 Update on SBC's offer with apprenticeships (Inclusive Skills Growth Strategy) Community Learning and Skills Training Provider- JGA Developing Futures 				
3 rd December 2020 Theme 1				
Creative Academy				
Youth Offer Slough Academy				
Slough Academy				

4th February 2021 Theme 1 & 2

NEET- Comparison figures on pre-COVID19 and during/post COVID19

Impact of COVID-19 on Education:

- Learning Gaps in Primary and Secondary Schools
- Safeguarding Children
- Annual Education Standards report 2018/19 (due to 2020 exam cancellations there will be no performance tables)

16th March 2021 Theme 2

Impact of COVID-19 on Social Care

- Early Years- Children Centres, staffing, families etc.
- The Trust- Vulnerable children, CIP, CIN, staffing, resources
- Parenting in Slough, Multi-Agency Strategy- Michael Jarrett
- Youth Offending Report

20th April 2021 Statutory Reports

- Slough Children's Services Trust Annual Report.
- Progress made since Ofsted ILACS inspection*
- Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report

Outstanding/Pending Items

- Training- Employment skills and Learning Opportunities Post-16 (focus on performance, outcomes for Slough students):
- Further Education Offers
- Kick-Start
- Local employer engagement

4th February 2021 Theme 1 & 2

THEMES FOR 2020	/21 DEVELOPMENT:			
 Theme 1- Training & Skills Development Theme 2- COVID-19 Impact on Education 				
Potential Task and Finish Group / Site Visits:				
 Windsor Forest Group/ Colleges on their offer Solutions for Health (0-19 Service) 	OsbourneApprenticeships			
Meetin	ng Date:			
	ober 2020 eme 1			
 Update on SBC's offer with apprenticeships (Inclusive Skills Growth Strategy) Community Learning and Skills Training Provider- JGA Developing Futures 				
3 rd December 2020 Theme 1				
 Creative Academy Youth Offer Slough Academy Ofsted Report on Social Care 				

Education and Children's Services Scrutiny Panel Work Programme 2020/21

- Attendance- Focusing on Elective Home Education
- The Trust's Performance
- The Draft Threshold Document

16th March 2021 Theme 2

- NEET- Comparison figures on pre-COVID19 and during/post COVID19
- Early Years- Children Centres, staffing, families etc.
- The Trust- Vulnerable children, CIP, CIN, staffing, resources
- Parenting in Slough, Multi-Agency Strategy (Michael Jarrett)
- Youth Offending Report
- ToR- Employment, Skills and COVID-19 Task and Finish Group

20th April 2021 Statutory Reports

- Slough Children's Services Trust Annual Report.
- Progress made since Ofsted ILACS inspection*
- Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report (
- Complaint's Report from SCST
- Annual Safeguarding Report on Social Care (Betty Lynch)

Outstanding/Pending Items

- Training- Employment skills and Learning Opportunities Post-16 (focus on performance, outcomes for Slough students):
- Further Education Offers
- Kick-Start
- Local employer engagement
- Late autumn Annual outcomes

AGENDA ITEM 8

MEMBERS' ATTENDANCE RECORD

EDUCATION & CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL 2020 – 21

			MEETIN	G DATES				
COUNCILLOR	16/07/2020	21/10/2020	03/12/2020	04/02/2021	16/03/2021	20/04/2021		
Ajaib	Р	Р	Р					
Basra	Р	Ар	Р					
Begum	Р	Ab	Р					
A Cheema	Р	Р	Р					
P Kelly	Р	Р	Р					
N Holledge	Р							
A Sandhu	Ар	Ар	Ab					
Sarfraz	Ар	Ар	Р					
Qaseem	Р	Р	Р					

Ap = Apologies given

P = Present for whole meeting P^* = Present for part of meeting

Ab = Absent, no apologies given

This page is intentionally left blank